

Excalibur Academies Trust Child Protection and Safeguarding Policy

Date of approval 14 July 2023

Effective from 1 September 2023

Approved by Board of Directors

Review date July 2024 – earlier if instructed



Review

Review Cycle	Date of Current Policy	Author(s) of Current Policy	Review Date
Annual	September 2023	Catriona Mangham	September 2024

Adoption by academy

Role	Name	Signature	Date
Chair of Governors/Board	Kim Lydon Strutt	Kim LS	1.9.23
CEO/Principal	Niki Jones	M Jones	1.9.23

Key Safeguarding Personnel at the Academy

Role	Name	Tel	Email	
Principal	Niki Jones	0167287 0492	njones@stkatharines.excalibur.org.uk	
Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL)	Niki Jones	0167287 0492	njones@stkatharines.excalibur.org.uk	
Deputy Designated Safeguarding Lead/s (DDSLs)	Kevin Sandall	0167287 0492	ksandall@stkatharines.excalibur.org.uk	
Nominated Governor	Michael McHugh	075848 58454	Michael.mchugh@excalbur.org.uk	
Chair of governors	Kim Lydon Strutt	07875 102141	Kim.lydonstrutt@excalbur.org.uk	
Designated teacher for Looked After Children	Niki Jones	See above	See above	
Mental Health Lead	Niki Jones	See above	See above	
Excalibur Board member responsible for safeguarding	Jeanette Longhurst		jeanette.longhurst@excalibur.org.uk	
Central team member responsible for safeguarding	Felicity Hawkins		Felicity.Hawkins@excalibur.org.uk	

The key safeguarding responsibilities within each of the roles above are set out in Keeping Children Safe in Education (2023)



ESSENTIAL CONTACT DETAILS

Children	's	Social	Care	referrals	
Cillidicil	•	JUCIUI	Culc	I CI CII GIS	٠.

to Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH):03004560108

Out of hours 03004560100

If you believe a child is <u>at immediate risk</u> of significant harm or injury, call the police: 999

Designated Officer for Allegations

(DOFA):dofaservic@wiltshire.gov.uk

Or MASH Option 3 and then Option 4 03004560108

Early Help Single Point of Entry: Wiltshire's Integrated Front Door (MASH and Early Support Hub) 03004560108

Secure email: mash@wiltshire.gcsx.gov.uk

Out of hours: 03004560100

Contents

PART 1: Policy	4
1.1 Definitions	4
1.2. Introduction	4
1.3 Overall Aims	6
1.4 Professional expectations, roles, and responsibilities	6
1.5 Safeguarding training for staff	9
1.6 Safeguarding in the curriculum	10
1.8 Whistleblowing	10
1.9 Safer recruitment and safer working practice	10
PART 2: Procedures	11
2.1 Reporting concerns	11
2.2 Information Sharing	11
2.3 Multi-agency working	12
2.4 Suspensions, permanent exclusions, and commissioning of Alternative	
2.6 Children Missing from Education	13
2.7 Respond to incidents of child-on-child harm	14
2.8 Responding to allegations of abuse made against professionals	15
2.9 Mental health and wellbeing	15
2.10 Online Safety	16
Appendix A – Key Guidance for safeguarding issues	
Appendix B – Reporting concerns	19



PART 1: Policy

1.1 Definitions

Safeguarding is defined as:

- Protecting children from maltreatment.
- Preventing impairment of children's mental and physical health or development.
- Ensuring that children grow up in circumstances consistent with the provision of safe and effective care.
- And taking action to enable all children to have the best outcomes.

Child Protection is defined in the Children Act 1989 (s.47) as when a child is suffering or is likely to suffer significant harm. Under statutory guidance and legislation action must be taken to safeguard and promote the child's welfare.

This policy applies to all staff in our academy.

For the purposes of this policy:

- **Staff** refers to all those working for or on behalf of the academy, full time or part time, in a paid or voluntary capacity. A volunteer is a person who performs an activity that involves spending time, unpaid in academy (except for approved expenses).
- **Principal** refers to the lead practitioner in the school, whatever their title. It includes anyone deputising for the Principal in their absence.
- **Parent** refers to birth parents and other adults who are in a parenting role, for example step-parents, foster carers and adoptive parents.
- **Child** refers to all children on our academy roll and any child under the age of 18 who comes into contact with our academy. This includes unborn babies.

Any safeguarding concerns or disclosures of abuse relating to a child at academy or outside of academy hours are within the scope of this policy.

1.2. Introduction

At Excalibur Academies Trust and its schools, safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children is **everyone's** responsibility. **Everyone** who comes into contact with children, their families and carers, has a role to play.

In order to fulfil this responsibility effectively, all professionals should make sure their approach is child-centred. This means that they should always consider what is in the **best interests** of the child.

We take an 'it can happen here' approach where safeguarding is concerned. Everyone who comes into contact with children has a role to play in identifying concerns, sharing information and taking prompt action. Victims of harm should never be given the impression that they are creating a problem by reporting abuse, sexual violence, or sexual harassment. Nor should a victim ever be made to feel ashamed for making a report.

Excalibur Academies Trust and its schools are committed to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children by:

• The provision of a safe environment in which children and young people can learn.



- Acting on concerns about a child's welfare immediately.
- Fulfilling our legal responsibilities to identify children who may need early help or who are suffering, or are likely to suffer, significant harm.

Equality statement

Some children have an increased risk of abuse, and additional barriers can exist for some children with respect to recognising or disclosing it. We are committed to anti-discriminatory practice and recognise children's diverse circumstances. We ensure that all children have the same protection, regardless of any barriers they may face.

Staff are aware of the additional barriers to recognising abuse and neglect in children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and those with medical conditions, in line with our Special Educational Needs and Disability Policy (here), Children with Medical Health Needs Who Cannot attend School Policy (here) and Supporting Children with Medical Conditions (here).

We adhere to the principals of anti-oppressive practice in line of the <u>United Nations</u> <u>Convention of the Rights of the Child</u> and the <u>Human Rights Act 1998</u>.

Current legislation and National / Local Guidance

All action taken by Excalibur Academies Trust and its schools will be in accordance with the following current legislation and statutory national, and local guidance:

Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018), which sets out the multiagency working arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and young people and protect them from harm; in addition, it sets out the statutory roles and responsibilities of schools.

Keeping Children Safe in Education (2023) is statutory guidance issued by the Department for Education which all schools and colleges must have regard to when carrying out their duties to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.

Early Years Foundation Stage statutory framework (2021) is statutory guidance which sets standards that school and childcare providers must meet for the learning, development, and care of children from birth to 5.

What to do if you are Worried a Child is Being Abused – Advice for Practitioners

Local Guidance from the Local Safeguarding Partnership: around particular safeguarding topics are available on the local website (here).

This policy has been written to reflect the school's compliance with the above documents. It does not seek to replicate the details contained within these documents. Staff should reference these when carrying out their duties.

All staff, including volunteers, are expected to refer to them, as needed.

This policy does not seek to detail procedures that staff should follow, except where these are required in the policy by *Keeping Children Safe in Education (KCSiE)* 2023. For Excalibur procedures, linked to safeguarding please refer to Excalibur Academies Trust's Safeguarding Handbook which accompanies this policy.



This policy should be read in conjunction with the following policies:

- Recruitment and Selection
- Whistleblowing and Public Interest Disclosure
- Code of Conduct for Staff/ Staff Behaviour Policy
- Behaviour (which should include measures to prevent bullying, including cyberbullying, prejudice-based and discriminatory bullying, and Exclusions Policy of a separate document)
- E-Safety and On-line Safety Policies
- Attendance Policy (including the safeguarding response to children who go missing from education)
- Health and Safety Policy
- Sexual Harassment Policy
- Low level concerns Policy
- Equality Policy
- Use of Reasonable Force Policy and Practice
- Health and Mental Wellbeing Guidance
- Supervision Policy
- Children with Medical Health Needs Who Cannot attend School Policy
- Supporting Children with Medical Conditions Policy.

Principals (and the CEO in relation to Central Trust members) must ensure that all policies and procedures are accessible, understood and followed by all staff.

1.3 Overall Aims

This policy will contribute to the safeguarding of children at **St Katharines** by:

- Clarifying safeguarding expectations for members of the education setting's community, staff, governing body, learners, and their families.
- Contributing to the establishment of a safe, resilient, and robust safeguarding culture in the setting built on shared values; that learners are treated with respect and dignity, taught to treat each other and staff with respect, feel safe, have a voice and are listened to.

St Katharines is named as a relevant agency in the Local Safeguarding Partnership. This policy sets out its statutory duty to co-operate, follow and comply with published arrangements as set out by the Wiltshire Safeguarding and vulnerable people Partnership.

1.4 Professional expectations, roles, and responsibilities

Role of the Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) and Deputy Designated Safeguarding lead(s)

The Designated Safeguarding Lead and the Deputy Safeguarding Lead(s) are appointed in line with the requirements of KCSiE (2023).

The DSL and DDSL have responsibility for leading safeguarding and child protection within school, ensuring the school adheres to all the expectations and requirements detailed in KCSiE (2023) Annex C.

In Excalibur, all DSLs have the right to supervision. This supervision is provided by other trained DSLs or the Head of Safeguarding and is structured with choice to uptake when needed. All supervision follows the Excalibur Academies Trust Supervision Policy.

All staff (including volunteers) will:

- Read and understand Part 1 of Keeping Children Safe in Education (2023). Those working directly with children will also read Annex A and B. Those who do not work directly with children will read Part 1 and Annex A.
- Comply with the policies and procedures of the school, including those related to safeguarding.
- Read and sign the Code of Conduct, annually.
- Know how to contact the DSL and any deputies, the Chair of Governors and the Governor responsible for safeguarding.
- Be clear as to the setting's policy and procedures about child on child abuse, children missing education and those requiring mental health support, and the impact of technology in relation to online safety.

In addition to the above:

The DSL and DDSL will:

- Be familiar with and follow the duties of the role as described in KCSiE, 2023, including Annex C.
- Will read through the Safeguarding Handbook and ensure it is available online to all staff.
- Follow the diary of actions in the handbook and complete all tasks laid out within it.
- Attend the first Academy Committee meeting each year to contextualise the setting the child protection and safeguarding practice and report on the training situation, including the effectiveness of the training
- Inform the Head of Safeguarding of any strategic issues relating to safeguarding, including any change to the Academy Committee Safeguarding Lead.

Designated Looked after Children Lead, the SENDCo and the Mental Health Lead will:

• Read and understand Keeping Children Safe in Education (2023), in full.

The Principal will:

- Read and understand Keeping Children Safe in Education (2023), in full, and all associated policies.
- Act as DSL or appoint a DSL and DDSL(s).
- Meet regularly with the DSL and DDSL(s) to ensure they are able to fulfil their roles and quality assure the work they are doing,
- Ensure all staff and volunteers receive appropriate, regularly updated safeguarding and child protection training.
- Ensure all staff understand and comply with all school policies and Part One of KCSIE, 2023
- Provide all staff with regular safeguarding and child protection updates (for example, via email, e-bulletins and staff meetings) or delegate this to the DSL
- Ensure that the DSL has appropriate time, funding, training and resources, and that there is always adequate cover if the DSL is absent.
- Follow recruitment procedures in line with KCSiE, 2023.



- Follow the correct procedures regarding allegations made against members of staff additionally informing the Head of HR.
- Act as the "case manager" in the event of an allegation of abuse is made against another member of staff in agreement with the Head of HR.
- Report any concerns about the work of Trust employees (who are not part of the school staff) to the CEO and the Excalibur Board Safeguarding Lead.
- Ensure that the use of volunteers, visitors, agencies / third parties, trainee teachers / students and contractors in school, complies with KCSiE, 2023.
- Give staff the opportunity to contribute to policy and procedure arrangements and shape safeguarding arrangements and the Safeguarding and Child Protection Policy Ensure section 128 checks have been carried out on their governors.
- Complete monitoring pro-forma by the Trust and return within time allocated.
- Follow local arrangements regarding safeguarding partners and child death review partner arrangements.
- Ensure the relevant staffing ratios are met, where applicable
- Make sure each child in the Early Years Foundation Stage is assigned a key person and that takes place in line with the Supervision Policy.

The Senior Leadership will:

- Read and understand Keeping Children Safe in Education (2023), in full, and all associated policies.
- Familiarise themselves with their role within the local safeguarding arrangements, ensuring that those who have responsibility for the management of behaviour, inclusion, Special Educational Needs, attendance, and exclusions carry out their duties with a safeguarding consideration.

The Academy Committee will:

- Read and understand section 1 of Keeping Children Safe in Education (2023) and Annex A.
- Monitor pupil attendance, behaviour, mental health and wellbeing.
- Ensure that the school remedies any deficiencies or weaknesses brought to its attention without delay.
- The appointed Safeguarding Governor will liaise with the Principal and the DSL to produce, carry out and submit the LA safeguarding audit and the Excalibur Safeguarding audit which needs to be sent to the Head of Safeguarding.

The Excalibur Central Team will:

- Read and understand section 1 of Keeping Children Safe in Education (2023), and Annex A.
- Liaise with Head of Safeguarding if they become aware of any concerns that are not being appropriate addressed or resolved in school.

The Trust Head of Safeguarding will:

- Support Principals and Academy Committee in implementing and monitoring this policy and ensure that each academy has read and understand Keeping Children Safe in Education (2023), in full.
- Support the Trust in providing model policies related to safeguarding and child protection.
- Provide support and advice for schools via the DSLs and Principals.



- Monitor the work of the school, including the Academy Committee and the Central Team, to ensure the school and the Trust are following this policy and has all the necessary policies, procedures and practices in place. In relation to safeguarding and child protection, attendance, behaviour and mental health and wellbeing.
- Liaise with the Board's safeguarding lead and the CEO in order to help them fulfil their duties.

Excalibur Academies Trust Board

The Board of Trustees will:

- Take overall strategic responsibility for the safeguarding practices across the Trust, holding the CEO to account.
- Read and understand section 1 of KCSiE 2023, and Appendix A, and follow their duties as 'the proprietor'.
- Have a strategic overview of safeguarding and child protection issues across the Trust
- Approve this policy at each review (or earlier if there are updates) and ensure it complies with the law.
- Hold the CEO to account for the implementation of the Child Protection and Safeguarding Policy and associated procedures.

1.5 Safeguarding training for staff

Training around safeguarding topics in (including online safety) will be integrated, aligned, and considered as part of a whole school safeguarding approach. Details of training required is in the Safeguarding Handbook.

All staff:

- Will receive appropriate safeguarding and child protection (including online safety) refresher training at least on annually (via formal training, email ebulletins and staff meetings). Staff training includes clear reference to the Whistleblowing Policy and guidance for escalating concerns.
- Must complete FGM awareness training and will understand their legal duty under the Mandatory Reporting Duty.
- Must complete PREVENT awareness training. This is to ensure that they can comply with the legal expectations under the PREVENT duty.
- As appropriate, will receive training in relation to use of reasonable force and
 positive handling, ideally anticipating in advance when this training might be
 needed in light of the local situation.

Early Years' Staff Supervision:

We comply with the Statutory Framework for Early Years Foundation Stage, 2011: 'Providers must put appropriate arrangements in place for the supervision of staff who have contact with children and families.' (Statutory framework for the early years foundation stage (DFE, 2017). See Excalibur Supervision Policy.

Designated Safeguarding Lead and Deputies:

 Will undergo formal training to provide them with the knowledge and skills (including online safety) training required to carry out the role. The training will be updated every two years. Deputies will be trained to the same level as the DSL.



 Will liaise with the Local Safeguarding Partnership to ensure that their knowledge and skills are updated via e-bulletins, attend DSL network meetings, and take time to read and digest safeguarding bulletins.

Staff with other Responsibilities

- The Designated Teacher for Children in Care will undergo appropriate training to fulfil their role to promote the educational achievement of registered pupils who are in care.
- The Mental Health Lead will have access to appropriate training.

Recruitment Training:

- The Board will ensure that at least one person on any recruitment panel of a Principal or Head of School will have undertaken safer recruitment training, in line School Staffing (England) Regulations 2009.
- The Principal will ensure that at least one person on any appointment panel within school will have undertaken safer recruitment training, in line School Staffing (England) Regulations 2009.
- All new staff are on-boarded and receive induction in line with KCSiE part 1.

1.6 Safeguarding in the curriculum

St Katharines is dedicated to ensuring that learners are taught about safeguarding, including online safety. We recognise that a one size fits all approach may not be appropriate for all learners, and a more personalised or contextualised approach for more vulnerable learners, victims of abuse and some SEND children might be needed. This is part of a broad and balanced curriculum.

We follow the curriculum requirements as set out in KCSiE 2023.

The curriculum will be shaped to respond to safeguarding incident patterns in the setting identified by the Designated Safeguarding Lead and safeguarding team (e.g., to respond to an increase in bullying incidents).

School will provide engagement opportunities with parents and carers to consult on key aspects of the curriculum, according to the local situation / need.

1.8 Whistleblowing

The Trust has a Whistleblowing policy (<u>here</u>) detailed within its Employment Manual, available to all Trust employees and volunteers.

1.9 Safer recruitment and safer working practice

Academy pays full regard to the safer recruitment practices detailed in 'Keeping Children Safe in Education' (2023; Part 3)
Other related Excalibur policies:

- Low level concerns
- Use of Reasonable Force



PART 2: Procedures

All procedures can be found in detail in the Safeguarding Handbook. This is available to all staff. Follow this link.

2.1 Reporting concerns

All staff are clear about recording and reporting concerns in a timely way. In the case a learner is in immediate danger, staff should phone the police.

All staff are aware of and follow the procedures to respond to a concern about a child detailed in the Safeguarding Handbook. This includes responses to child-on-child harm and learners who present with a mental health need.

At **St Katharines** learners can raise their concerns by requesting to speak to a member of staff or placing a concern in the 'worry box' that is available in all classrooms. Children are frequently reminded about the sharing of worries or concerns with a 'trusted adult' and asked to reflect on who that adult might be for them. All concerns will be treated seriously.

2.2 Information Sharing

St Katharines is committed to have due regard to relevant data protection principles which allow for sharing (and withholding) personal information as provided for in the Data protection Act 2018 and UK General Data Protection Regulations. This includes how to store and share information for safeguarding purposes, including information which is sensitive and personal and should be treated as 'special category personal data'.

Staff at the setting are aware that:

- 'Safeguarding' and 'individuals at risk' is a processing condition that allows practitioners to share special category personal data.
- Practitioners will seek consent to share data where possible in line with Information Sharing for Safeguarding Practitioners 2018.

There may be times when it is necessary to share information without consent such as:

- To gain consent would place the child at risk,
- by doing so will compromise a criminal investigation,
- It cannot be reasonably expected that a practitioner gains consent,
- or, if by sharing information it will enhance the safeguarding of a child in a timely manner, but it is not possible to gain consent.

There are also times when **St Katharines** will not provide pupil's personal data where the serious harm test under legislation is met, (by sharing the information the child may be at further risk). When in doubt **St Katharines** will seek legal advice.

The Data Protection Act 2018 and UK GDPR do not prevent the sharing of information for the purposes of keeping children safe. Fears about sharing information must not be allowed to stand in the way of the need to safeguard and promote the welfare and protect the safety of children.



2.3 Multi-agency working

St Katharines is a relevant agency in the Wiltshire Safeguarding Vulnerable People Partnership and will work together with appropriate agencies to safeguard and promote the welfare of children including identifying and responding to their needs. This is in compliance with statutory guidance Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018.

Occasions that warrant a statutory assessment under the Children Act 1989:

- If the child is in need under s.17 of the Children Act 1989 (including when a child is a young carer and or subject to a private fostering arrangement).
- Or if the child needs protection under s.47 of the Children Act 1989 where they are experiencing significant harm, or likely to experience significant harm.

Referrals in these cases should be made by the DSL (or Deputy DSLs) to Children's Social Care in the local authority in which that child resides. The list of safeguarding contact and other key agencies are listed in <u>Appendix B</u>.

Where the child already has a social worker, the request for service should go immediately to the social worker involved or, in their absence, to their team manager. If the child is a child in care, notification should also be made to the Local Authority Virtual School.

St Katharines will co-operate with any statutory safeguarding assessments conducted by children's social care: this includes ensuring representation at appropriate interagency meetings such as integrated support plan meetings initial and review child protection conferences and core group meetings.

2.4.1 Additional considerations:

- Where a learner and/or their family is subject to an inter-agency child protection plan or a multiagency risk assessment conference meeting, the setting will contribute to the preparation, implementation, and review of the plan as appropriate.
- In situations where a child in care may be put on to part time timetable, the school will consult with the relevant Virtual School following local procedures.
- If a crime has been suspected or committed that involved the bringing of an
 offensive weapon on to the school site, the setting will liaise with the Local
 Authority Violence Reduction Unit (Safer Options) who will consider a
 proportionate response.
- If there is a risk of harm, the police should be called via 999. For other concerns of criminality, the non-statutory guidance 'When to Call the Police' from the NCPCC can be helpful or contact the local PCSO/School Police Beat Officer/School Officer.
- In the rare event that a child death occurs, or a child is seriously harmed, St
 Katharines will notify the Local Partnership as soon as is reasonably possible and
 the Excalibur CEO and Head of Safeguarding.

2.4 Suspensions, permanent exclusions, and commissioning of Alternative Provision

(To be read in conjunction with the Behaviour Policy)

When the setting is considering suspending or permanently excluding a learner where additional vulnerability is identified it is important that the learner's welfare is a paramount consideration. The principal will consider their legal duty of care when sending a learner home. **St Katharines** will exercise their legal duties in relation to their interventions. This includes:



- whether a statutory assessment should be considered in line with the principles of <u>Children Act 1989</u>,
- ➤ that decisions are made in an anti-discriminatory manner in line with the Equality Act 2010 (including having regard to the <u>SEND Code of Practice</u>)
- > and takes into consideration the learner's rights under the <u>Human Rights Act</u> 1998.
- Interventions will be consistent with statutory guidance <u>School suspensions and</u> permanent exclusions GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

2.5.1 - Actions to take

- An assessment of need should be undertaken with multi-agency partners with a view to mitigate any identified risk of harm.
- If the child is subject to a child protection plan or where there is an existing child protection file, we will call a multiagency risk-assessment meeting prior to making the decision to exclude.
- In the event of a one-off serious incident resulting in an immediate decision to exclude, the risk assessment must be completed prior to convening a meeting of the governing body.

2.5.2 - Commissioning Alternative Provisions

In the event where **St Katharines** commissions an Alternative Provision they will follow local guidance to ensure clear agreement of roles and responsibilities to maintain safeguarding arrangements for learners who are not taught on site.

St Katharines will continue to be responsible for the safeguarding of that learner and will make necessary checks on the provider to meet the needs of the learner. Written confirmation from the Alternative provider will be obtained of the checks on staff that we would otherwise perform for our own staff.

2.6 Children Missing from Education/Absent from Education

(To be read in conjunction with the Attendance Policy)

Children being absent from education for prolonged periods and/or on repeat occasions can act as a vital warning sign to a range of safeguarding issues including neglect, child sexual and child criminal exploitation - particularly county lines. It is important the school or college's response to persistently absent pupils and children missing education supports identifying such abuse, and in the case of absent pupils, helps prevent the risk of them becoming a child missing education in the future. This includes when problems are first emerging but also where children are already known to local authority children's social care and need a social worker (such as a child who is a child in need or who has a child protection plan, or is a looked after child), where being absent from education may increase known safeguarding risks within the family or in the community.

Staff should follow procedures for unauthorised absence and for dealing with children that go missing from education, particularly on repeat occasions. These should be reported to the DSL and reviewed.

Academy will follow the guidance detailed in <u>Children Missing Education (2016)</u> This will include notifying the local authority in which the child lives:

- of any pupil who fails to attend school regularly,
- or has been absent without the school's permission for a continuous period of 10 school days or more, at such intervals as are agreed between the school and the local authority.



2.6.1 - Elective Home Education

St Katharines will notify the Local Authority of every learner where a parent has exercised their right to educate their child at home. Safeguarding files should be shared with the Local Authority Elective Home Education service and consideration of whether additional support from children's social care should be made in line with the Children Act 1989.

2.7 Respond to incidents of child-on-child harm.

All staff should recognise that children can abuse their peers (including online). It is important that incidents of abuse and harm are treated under safeguarding policy in conjunction with the behaviour policy. However, concerns regarding the welfare of learners requires process and records to be kept on the child's safeguarding/child protection file.

Further examples of child-on-child harm this can be found in the Safeguarding Handbook. It is recognised that child-on-child abuse can happen inside and outside of school/college or online.

At St Katharines

- We have a 'zero tolerance' approach to abuse. Incidents are taken seriously.
 These will never be tolerated or passed off as 'banter,' just having a laugh' or
 'part of growing up.' Banter and teasing can and should be acknowledged
 and recognised as bullying behaviour and may require proportionate
 intervention.
- Even with a zero-tolerance approach, we take steps to educate and take action to mitigate the risk of contributing to a culture of unacceptable behaviours or a culture that normalises abuse.
- It is understood that child on child harm may reflect equality issues in terms of those who may be targeted are more likely to have protected characteristics.
- Early identification of vulnerability to child-on-child harm is made by reviewing attendance, behaviour, attainment and safeguarding records at least on a termly basis.

There are clear systems in place (which are well promoted, easily understood and easily accessible) for learners to confidently report abuse knowing their concerns will be treated easily as reflected in section <u>2.1 Reporting a concern</u> of this policy. Academy will handle initial reports of harm by:

- Securing the immediate safety of learners involved in an incident and sourcing support for other young people affected.
- Listening carefully to the child, being non-judgmental, being clear about boundaries and how the report will be progressed, not asking leading questions and only prompting the child where necessary with open questions – where, when, what, etc;
- ensuring that victims will never be given the impression that they are creating a problem by reporting abuse, sexual violence, or sexual harassment. They will never be made to feel ashamed for making a report.
- Ensuring the child's wishes are taken into consideration in any intervention
 and any action is taken to ensure safety of the target and other members of
 the wider peer cohort.
- Not promising confidentiality as it is highly likely that information will need to be shared with others.



Reference to Keeping Children Safe In Education (2023, Part 5) should be made in relation to taking protective action. Schools should also refer to the sexual harassment section of the Safeguarding handbook for policy and practice. **St Katharines** will take the follow this guidance when responding to incidents of sexual violence and sexual harassment:

2.7.2 - Contextual safeguarding approach to child-on-child harm:

St Katharines will minimise the risk of child-on-child abuse by taking a contextual approach to safeguarding by increasing safety in the contexts of which harm can occur – this can include the school environment itself, peer groups and the neighbourhood.

Following any incidents of child-on-child harm, the DSL/Deputies will review and consider whether any practice or environmental changes can be made in relation to any lessons learned. This needs to be noted in a risk assessment after the incident including what action was decided upon as well as the date, time and location of the incident. This can include making changes to staffing and supervision, making changes to the physical environment and considering the utilisation and delivery of safeguarding topics on the curriculum.

2.8 Responding to allegations of abuse made against professionals.

Staff must report any concerns or allegations about a professional's behaviour (including supply staff, volunteers, and contractors) where they may have:

- behaved in a way that has harmed a child or may have harmed a child.
- possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a child.
- behaved towards a child or children in a way that indicates he or she may pose a risk of harm to children; or
- behaved or may have behaved in a way that indicates they may not be suitable to work with children.

Immediate action must be taken: see Safeguarding Handbook

2.8.2 - Low-level concerns

This should be read in conjunction with the staff Code of Conduct, Keeping children Safe in Education and Excalibur's Low Level Concerns Policy. A low-level concern is not insignificant. This process should be used in events where a concern about professional conduct does not meet the threshold set out at the beginning of this section. All low-level concerns should be reported to the Principal or if about the Principal or they are not available to the Chair of Governors.

2.9 Mental health and wellbeing.

Schools and colleges have an important role to play in supporting the mental health and wellbeing of their learners. Mental health problems can, in some cases, be an indicator that a child has suffered or is at risk of suffering abuse, neglect or exploitation, and or may require early help support. All schools will follow the Excalibur Health and Wellbeing of Students guidance and practice.

St Katharines will commit to undertake the following.



- The appointment of a senior mental health lead who can support the
 development of knowledge and act as a point of expertise to promote the
 wellbeing and mental health of learners. This colleague will have sufficient
 training in mental health and safeguarding for them to carry out their role
 effectively.
- Early identification of vulnerability to mental health problems by reviewing attendance, behaviour, attainment, and safeguarding records at least on a termly basis.
- Ensure that learners can report and share concerns in line with section <u>2.1</u> Reporting a concern of this policy.
- Staff will follow a safeguarding process in terms of reporting concerns outlined so the DSL/Deputy DSLs (and wider members of the safeguarding team such as the SENDCo) can assess whether there are any other vulnerabilities can be identified and proportionate support considered.
- Staff will ensure the immediate health and safety of a learner who is displaying acute mental health distress. This may require support from emergency services via 999 if the leaner is at risk of immediate harm.
- DSLs/Deputies will consider whether a case can be managed internally, through early help, or should involve other agencies as required in line with section 2.3 Multi-Agency Working.
- The setting will communicate and work with the learner and parents/carers to ensure that interventions are in the best interests of the child.
- DSLs will liaise with staff to ensure reasonable adjustments are made and develop ways to support achieving positive educational outcomes.
- Only appropriately trained professionals should attempt to make a diagnosis
 of a mental health problem DSLs and the senior leadership team should be
 able to access specialist advice through targeted services or through their
 locality Primary Mental Health Specialists from Child and Family Consultation Services.

2.9.1 - Contextual safeguarding approach to mental health

St Katharines will ensure that preventative measures in terms of providing safeguarding on the curriculum will provide opportunities for learners to identify when they may need help, and to develop resilience.

The setting will take a 'whole school approach' to:

- deliver high quality teaching around mental health and wellbeing on the curriculum.
- having a culture that promotes mental health and wellbeing;
- having an environment that promotes mental health and wellbeing;
- making sure pupils and staff are aware of and able to access a range of mental health services;
- supporting staff wellbeing
- And being committed to pupil and parent participation

2.10 Online Safety

Online safety is an integrated and interwoven theme with other safeguarding considerations. It is essential that the DSL takes a lead on ensuring that interventions are effective. This means coordinating support and engaging with other colleagues in the setting who may have more technological expertise such as the IT manager.

St Katharines is committed to addressing online safety issues around content, contact, conduct and commerce. This includes:



- Ensuring that online safety is concerned in relevant policies and procedures.
- Online safety is interwoven in safeguarding training for staff and safeguarding on the curriculum for learners.
- Acknowledging that child on child abuse can happen via mobile and smart technology between individuals and groups. This should be approached in the same process outlined in section <u>2.7 Responding to incidents of child-on-child harm</u> and read in conjunction with St Katharine's policy on the use of mobile smart technology is available via the school website.
- Provision of education via remote learning will comply with governmental advice <u>Safeguarding and remote education during coronavirus</u> (COVID-19) -GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- Ensuring their setting has appropriate filtering and monitoring systems in place
 and regularly review their effectiveness. They should ensure that the
 leadership team and relevant staff have an awareness and understanding of
 the provisions in place and manage them effectively and know how to
 escalate concerns when identified. The setting will consider the number of
 and age range of their children, those who are potentially at greater risk of
 harm and how often they access the IT system along with the proportionality
 of costs versus safeguarding risks.
- The effectiveness of the setting's ability to safeguarding learners in respect to filtering and monitoring, information security and access management alongside the above will be reviewed annually.

2.10 Police and Criminal Evidence Act (1984) – Code C

The Designated Safeguarding Lead (and deputy) are aware of the requirement for children to have an appropriate adult when in contact with Police officers who suspect them of an offence and the regulations around this. See Safeguarding Handbook.



Appendix A – Key Guidance for safeguarding issues.

- Excalibur Academies Trust Safeguarding Handbook
- Keeping children safe in education GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)



Appendix B - Reporting concerns

Reporting Concerns Flow Charts for (Wiltshire)

What to do if you are worried a child is being abused or neglected



for staff, volunteers and visitors in all agencies and settings

Be alert to signs of abuse and question unusual behaviour

If you have concerns about a child's welfare...

Where a child also discloses abuse or neglect:

- Listen; take their allegation seriously; reassure that you will take action to keep them safe
- Inform them what you are going to do next
- · Donot promise confidentiality
- Do not question further or approach/inform the alleged abuser

Report concerns to the Designated/Named Safeguarding Lead or their deputy:

The Designated/Named Safeguarding Lead will:

• consider further actions required, including consultation with MASH (number below)

record in writing the discussions, decisions and reasons for decisions.

In exceptional circumstances or in the absence of a Safeguarding Lead you may contact MASH directly.

If a referral is not required:

The Designated Safeguarding Lead will oversee relevant action, eg pastoral support, and/or early help assessment and monitor locally.

If concerns continue

The Designated/Named Safeguarding Lead (or staff) will contact MASH to make a referral

Additional/unmet needs -

the Designated Safeguarding Lead will consult with relevant agencies and undertake an Early Help CAF and Team around the Child meetings.

- Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH): 0300 456 0108
- Out of Hours Emergency Duty Service: 0300 456 0100
 (5.00pm to 9.00am weekdays, 4:00pm Friday to 9:00am Monday)
- If the child is in immediate risk, dial 999 and ask for police assistance

MASH will:

- 1. Acknowledge receipt of referral
- Decide on next course of action (within 1 working day)
- Provide feedback decision to referrer (e.g. further assessment including: strategy discussion/child protection enquiries; no further action required for children's social care and early help assessment/CAF recommended; referral to other agency for service provision).

This flowchart is intended for use as a brief guide. Refer to the DfE Guidance What to do if you are worried a child is being abused for more information, definitions and possible indicators of abuse (including child sexual exploitation).

SVPP website: www.wiltshirescb.org.uk Reviewed: September 2020







If you become aware that a member of staff/volunteer/supply/contractor or bank staff MAY have:

- behaved in a way that has harmed a child, or may have harmed a child and/or
- possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a child, and/or
- behaved towards a child or children in a way that indicates he or she may pose a risk of harm to children, and/or
- behaved or may have behaved in a way that indicates they may not be suitable to work with children

Allegations and concerns against adults in education settings – September 2022 (including schools, early years and alternative provision settings)

If you have any concern – no matter how small, and even if no more than causing a sense of unease or a 'nagging doubt' - that an adult working in or on behalf of the school may have acted in a way that:

- is inconsistent with the staff code of conduct, including inappropriate conduct outside of work and does not meet the harm threshold or is otherwise not
- serious enough to consider a referral to the DOFA.

 Examples of such behaviour could include, but are not limited
- Being over friendly with children
- Having favourites
- Taking photographs of children on their mobile phone, contrary to school policy
- Engaging with a child on a one-to-one basis in a scheduled area or behind a closed door; or,
- Humiliating pupils

Where a child also discloses abuse or neglect by a member of staff/volunteer/supply/ contractor or bank staff:

- Listen; take their allegation seriously; reassure that you will take action to keep them safe
 Inform them what you
- Inform them what you are going to do next
- Do not promise confidentiality
- Do not question further or approach/inform the person/alleged abuser

Staff should selfrefer to their line manager or Designated Safeguarding Lead where they have found themselves in a situation which could be misinterpreted, might appear compromising to others, and/or on reflection they believe they have behaved in such a way that they consider falls below the expected professional standards

Report immediately to the person in charge: (INSERT NAME)...

Eg headteacher, principal, manager

Any concern or allegation against the person in charge will be reported to: (INSERT NAME):

Eq chair of governor, owner, chair of committee, nominated trustee

Unless there is clear evidence to prove that the allegation is incorrect, the person in charge will decide on the nature of the allegation/concern:

Allegations that may meet the harm threshold

If the behaviour towards the child may have met the harm threshold (KCSiE 2022, p.85) report the allegation within one working day to the Designated Officer for Allegations (DOfA)

- Contact the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH): 0300 456
 0108 and select Option 3 then Option 4 or email
- dofaservice@wiltshire.gov.uk
 Out of Hours Emergency Duty Service: 0300 456 0100 (5pm to 9am weekdays, 4pm Friday to 9am Monday)

Allegations/concerns that do not meet the harm threshold (low-level concerns)

Refer to the allegation/concerns that do not meet the harm threshold, or 'low level' concerns addendum flowchart (below).



Allegation/concerns guidance for persons in charge – September 2022



Allegations that may meet the harm threshold KCSIE 2022 Part 4 Section 1

The DOfA will:

- Consider the relevant facts and concerns regarding the adult and child or children, including any previous history
 Decide on next course of action usually straight away, sometimes after
- Decide on next course of action usually straight away, sometimes after further consultation with other multi-agency parties such as the Police and HR.

If the allegation threshold is met:

- A strategy meeting will normally be held
- Usually, a senior manager/safeguarding lead, the DOfA, HR, Police and social care are invited to attend.
- Relevant information is shared, risks to children are considered and appropriate action agreed eg child protection and other enquiries, disciplinary measures or criminal proceedings.
- A record of the meeting will be made, and regular reviews will take place until a conclusion is reached.

If the allegation threshold is NOT met:

The DOfA will agree an appropriate response, eg for the setting to undertake further enquiries or an internal investigation.

Refer to the low-level concerns procedures on the right-hand-side

Allegations/concerns that do NOT meet the harm threshold ('low level' concerns)

KCSIE 2022 Part 4 Section 2

The person in charge will take the following actions:

- Reports about supply staff and contractors will be notified to their employers.
- Collect information to help them categorise the type of behaviour and determine what further action may need to be taken.
- If the concern has been raised via a third party, the person in charge (or a nominated deputy) should collect as much evidence as possible by speaking:
 - directly to the person who raised the concern, unless it has been raised anonymously, and
 - to the individual involved and any witnesses.
- All low-level concerns will be recorded in writing and will include details of the concern, the context in which the concern arose along with the rationale for decisions and action taken.
- Records will be kept confidential and held securely; it is recommended that it is retained at least until the individual leaves their employment.
- Records will be reviewed so that potential patterns of concerning, problematic or inappropriate behaviour can be identified.
- Where a pattern of such behaviour is identified, the school or college should decide on a course of action, either through its disciplinary procedures or where a pattern of behaviour moves from a low-level concern to meeting the harm threshold, in which case it should be referred to the DOfA (as per Part 4, Section 1).
- Consideration should also be given to whether there are wider cultural issues within the school or college that enabled the behaviour to occur and where appropriate policies could be revised, or extra training delivered to minimise the risk of it happening again.
- The person in charge will seek advice from HR adviser and/or DOFA consultation as appropriate.



- For wider local contacts use the following page:
 https://wiltshiresvpp.org.uk/p/how-to-report-a-concern
- Neighboring Local Authority Contacts page: https://www.berkshirewestsafeguardingchildrenpartnership.org.uk/scp/west-berks/west-berkshire